RECEIVED

02-24-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 2

VILLAGE OF CHENEQUA

Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

Circuit Court Case No.: 2014-CV-001389 Appeal No. 2015-AP-000094 FT

CHAD C. SCHMALZ

Defendant-Respondent.

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT VILLAGE OF CHENEQUA'S BRIEF

Appeal from Circuit Court of Waukesha County Honorable Michael O. Bohren

Kershek Law Offices Greenfield Professional Center 10777 West Beloit Road Greenfield, WI 53228

By: Kimberly M. Kershek
State Bar No.: 1078878
Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant,
Village of Chenequa

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 2

VILLAGE OF CHENEQUA

Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the Circuit Court err in finding that the Village of Chenequa police officer did not have reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop of Respondent?
- 2. Did the Circuit Court err in finding that the Village of Chenequa police officer's traffic stop of Respondent was not valid under the community caretaker doctrine?

STATEMENT REGARDING PUBLICATION

A decision in this appeal will meet the criteria for publication in Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1) because it will apply the established rules of law regarding reasonable suspicion and the community caretaker doctrine to a factual situation significantly different from that in published opinions,

particularly those traffic stops involving drivers who fail to stop after striking a deer on a public roadway.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

Schmalz is charged with a violation of Town of Lisbon Ordinance Number 7.03, adopting Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), entitled "Operating under the influence of an intoxicant" and a violation of Town of Lisbon Ordinance Number 7.03, adopting Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b), entitled "Operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration."

II. Procedural Status and Disposition at Motion Hearing

Schmalz was charged with the above-listed violations on November 18, 2012. Schmalz filed a Motion to Suppress in Municipal Court on May 13, 2013 on the grounds that the Village of Chenequa police officer lacked a reasonable suspicion to stop Schmalz and that the officer's stop was not justified by the community caretaker doctrine. The Municipal Court held a hearing on Schmalz's Motion to Suppress on May 2, 2014 and denied the Motion and the defendant was ultimately found guilty on both charges. Schmalz appealed the Municipal Court decision to Circuit Court on May 9, 2014. Schmalz filed an identical Motion to Suppress in the Circuit Court on August 13, 2014 (R 9; R-Ap. p. 1-11). This matter proceeded to a motion hearing on

Schmalz's Motion to Suppress on October 13, 2014 before
Waukesha County Circuit Judge Michael O. Bohren. (R 15; R-Ap. p. 1-43). Judge Bohren granted Schmalz's Motion to
Suppress and dismissed both charges against Schmalz. (R 15
42:6-20; R-Ap. p. 42:6-20). The Village of Chenequa filed
its Notice of Appeal on January 12, 2015. (R 13).

III. Statement of Facts

While on duty on Sunday, November 18, 2012 at approximately 3:08 a.m. and traveling northbound on Highway C in the Village of Chenequa, Village of Chenequa Police Officer Johns observed Schmalz operating a motor vehicle southbound on Highway C in the same location. (R 15 5:10-6:8; R-Ap. p. 5:10-6:8). There were no unusual weather or road conditions; it was clear and dry. (R 15 7:3-7; R-Ap. p. 7:3-7). The area of the roadway where Officer Johns observed Schmalz was straight and relatively flat. (R 15 7:24-8:3; R-Ap. p. 7:24-8:3).

Officer Johns's attention was drawn to Schmalz's vehicle because it was traveling at 26 miles per hour in a 35 mile per hour zone with no apparent justification. (R 15 6:8-7:7 R-Ap. p. 6:8-7:7). Based on years of running radar in this area of Highway C, Officer Johns knew that most vehicles travel between 38 and 43 miles per hour in this particular area. (R 15 19:1-4; R-Ap. p. 19:1-4).

Therefore, Officer Johns's attention was drawn to the slow speed of Schmalz's vehicle and found it unreasonable. (R 15 9:6-13; R-Ap. p. 9:6-13).

Officer Johns's attention was also alerted by the fact that Schmalz's vehicle was traveling very close to the fog line in an area with little to no shoulder on the road. (R 15 7:15-21, 8:13-16, 25:8-10; R-Ap. p. 7:15-21, 8:13-16, 25:8-10). Officer Johns was concerned that Schmalz was traveling within two (2) to three (3) inches of the fog line in an area where "you're in the ditch after crossing over the fog line." (R 15 8:7-16; R-Ap. p. 8:7-16). Officer Johns saw that Schmalz was within six (6) to seven (7) inches of leaving the roadway. (R 15 8:21-22; R-Ap. p. 8:21-22). Based upon these observations, Officer Johns conducted a u-turn to further observe Schmalz's operation of his vehicle. (R 15 7:21-23; R-Ap. p. 7:21-23).

After conducting a u-turn and getting within three (3) to four (4) car lengths of Schmalz' vehicle, covering about a half mile, Officer Johns observed a deer coming from the right side of his field of vision toward the roadway. (R 15 9:3-7, R-Ap. p. 9:3-7). Officer Johns had no trouble seeing the deer as it approached the roadway or reacting to its presence and approach. (R 15 9:15-17, 10:16-18; R-Ap. p. 9:15-17, 10:16-18).

Officer Johns observed the deer travel in front of Schmalz's vehicle which then struck the deer, causing the deer to "spin helicopter into the roadway into the northbound lane." (R 15 9:7-10, 11:2-4; R-Ap. p. 9:7-10, 11:2-4). When Schmalz struck the deer, the deer had almost crossed the path of the car. (R 15 26:15-19; R-Ap. p. 26:15-19). Officer Johns saw that Schmalz did not stop upon striking the deer but only tapped the brake lightly just before impact. (R 15 9:10, 11:5-10; R-Ap. p. 9:10, 11:5-10). Officer Johns did not think it was "normal driving behavior to strike an animal that's as large as a deer and not at least stop and check on your vehicle to make sure your vehicle is safe to continue on." (R 15 11:23-12:2; R-Ap. p. 11:23-12:2). In Officer Johns's experience, people report deer-car collisions approximately 90% of the time. (R 15 19:19-20:6). In this instance, the impact was such that the deer was deceased in the northbound lane where it created a traffic hazard. (R 15 26:24-27:3, R-Ap. p. 26:24-27:3).

Having observed Schmalz fail to stop after striking the deer, Officer Johns was unsure if something was wrong with Schmalz. (R 15 24:5-14; R-Ap. p. 24:5-14). Officer Johns didn't know if Schmalz was impaired or having a medical condition like diabetic shock that may have

contributed to his lack of reaction to the deer. *Id*.

Officer Johns wondered if Schmalz even knew he struck a

deer. (R 15 24:12-14; R-Ap. p. 24:12-14). Officer Johns

knew that he would not be able confirm if Schmalz was

having some kind of problem without making contact with

him. *Id*. Officer Johns was also unable to ascertain

whether Schmalz's vehicle had sustained any damage as a

result of striking the deer. (R 15 23:1-19, 25:2-4; R-Ap.

p. 23:1-19, 25:2-4).

Officer Johns found that based on the day of the week, the time of the day, the slow speed of Schmalz's vehicle, his observation of the Schmalz vehicle traveling within inches of the fog line in an area with little or no shoulder, and the fact that Schmalz did not react or stop upon striking the deer, he had formed a reasonable suspicion that Schmalz was operating while impaired. (R 15 11:18-23; R-Ap. p. 11:18-23). As a result of the forgoing, Officer Johns conducted a traffic stop of Schmalz to determine if the operator was impaired or hurt and if the vehicle was damaged. (R 15 12:10-14, 24:19-23, R-Ap. p. 12:10-14, 24:19-23).

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

When reviewing a circuit court's determination of whether there was reasonable suspicion to support a stop of a vehicle, the Appellate Court reviews the Circuit Court's findings of fact under the clearly erroneous standard and reviews de novo the application of those facts to constitutional principles. State v. Brown, 2014 WI 69, ¶17, 355 Wis.2d 668, 677, 850 N.W.2d 66, 71.

The standard of review for searches and seizures based on the "community caretaker function" is whether police conduct constitutes a violation of the Fourth Amendment or Article I, Section 11 of the federal and state Constitutions, which is a question of constitutional fact reviewed de novo. State v. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 16, 315 Wis.2d 414, 423, 759 N.W.2d 598, 603. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals reviews de novo whether an officer's community caretaker function satisfies the requirements of the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 11 of the federal and state Constitutions. Id.

II. Officer Johns had reasonable suspicion to stop Schmalz

In <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 30 (1967), the United States Supreme Court authorized police officers to stop and detain individuals when officers possess reasonable suspicion to believe a crime has occurred. The reasonable suspicion standard applies to motor vehicle stops. <u>Arizona</u>

v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323, 333 (2009). The Wisconsin Supreme Court has embraced this rule, see <u>State v.</u>
<u>Chambers</u>, 55 Wis. 2d 289, 294, 198 N.W.2d 377, 378-79
(1972), and it is codified in Wis. Stat. § 968.24.

A law enforcement officer may lawfully conduct an investigatory stop if, based upon the officer's experience, he or she reasonably suspects "that criminal activity may be afoot." Williams, 2001 WI 21 at ¶21, 241 Wis. 2d at 644, 623 N.W.2d at 112 (quoting Terry, 392 U.S. at 30).

Reasonable suspicion is dependent on whether the officer's suspicion was grounded in specific, articulable facts, and reasonable inferences from those facts, that an individual was committing a crime. State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 55-56, 556 N.W.2d 681, 684 (1996).

An investigative traffic stop may be supported by reasonable suspicion even when the officer did not observe the driver violate any law. See Post, 301 Wis.2d 1, ¶24 ("[I]t is clear that driving need not be illegal in order to give rise to reasonable suspicion" because such a standard "would allow investigatory stops only when there was probable cause to make an arrest."); State v. Waldner, 206 Wis.2d 51, 57, 556 N.W.2d 681, 684 (1996) ("The law allows a police officer to make an investigatory stop based on observations of lawful conduct so long as the reasonable

inferences drawn from the lawful conduct are that criminal activity is afoot.").

In evaluating whether an investigatory traffic stop is supported by reasonable suspicion, the officer must have more than an "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch." Post, 301 Wis.2d 1, ¶10. Rather, the officer "must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant" the traffic stop. Id. This determination is based on "whether the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing, or is about to commit a crime." Id. at ¶13.

The determination of whether a stop was objectively reasonable turns on the facts of each individual case.

Despite the fact that any single fact, standing alone, may be insufficient to provide reasonable suspicion or that each could have an innocent explanation, a Court must look at the totality of the facts taken together. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d at 58, 556 N.W.2d at 685. "The building blocks of fact accumulate. As they accumulate, reasonable inferences about the cumulative effect can be drawn. In essence, a

point is reached where the sum of the whole is greater than the sum of its individual parts. $\underline{\text{Id}}$.

Here, Officer Johns possessed the requisite reasonable suspicion to stop Schmalz. First, Officer Johns first observed Schmalz operating a motor vehicle in the Village of Chenequa on a Sunday at 3:08 a.m. Second, Officer Johns observed Schmalz operating a motor vehicle at a speed of 26 miles per hour in a 35 mile an hour zone. Officer Johns found this unusual given that the average vehicle travels this stretch of road at between 38 and 43 miles per hour.

Third, Officer Johns observed Schmalz's vehicle traveling within two (2) to three (3) inches of the fog line in an area where the roadway has little to no shoulder. As Officer Johns put it, "you're in the ditch after crossing over the fog line." (R 15 8:7-16; R-Ap. p. 8:7-16). Officer Johns saw that Schmalz was within six (6) to seven (7) inches of actually leaving the roadway.

Fourth, Schmalz failed to avoid colliding with a deer, struck the deer and failed to stop upon striking the deer. Schmalz's only reaction to the oncoming deer was a momentary tap of the brakes just before impact. As Officer Johns pointed out, based on his experience, this is not normal driving behavior. The average person, upon striking an animal as large as a deer would at least stop to examine

the condition of his or her vehicle. The helicopter-effect the impact had on the deer and the fact that the deer was ultimately deceased indicate that this was not a collision where the deer or the impact would escape the driver's notice. Schmalz, however, exhibited little if any reaction to the deer or the collision. Furthermore, as Officer Johns pointed out, approximately 90% of deer-car collisions are reported as accidents. Schmalz gave no indication he intended to report the incident.

While none of these factors alone may constitute a violation of the law or justify a stop of Schmalz's vehicle, taken together, these facts are the building blocks of the reasonable suspicion necessary to justify the stop. In this case, Officer Johns had more than just an inchoate hunch that Schmalz was committing a violation of the law. Officer Johns was able to point to the heretofore listed specific, articulable facts that led him to the reasonable belief, based on the totality of the circumstances that a violation of the law was afoot.

Therefore, the Circuit Court's finding that Officer Johns did not possess the reasonable suspicion necessary to stop Schmalz was clearly erroneous.

III. Officer Johns's stop of Schmalz was justified by his community caretaker function.

An officer exercises a community caretaker function "when the officer discovers a member of the public who is in need of assistance." State v. Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, ¶12, 237 Wis.2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592.

When a community caretaker function is asserted as justification for the seizure of a person, the court must determine: (1) that a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred, (2) if so, whether the police conduct was bona fide community caretaker activity, and (3) if so, whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual.

State v. Kramer, 2009 WI App 14, ¶21, 315 Wis.2d 414, 427
759 N.W.2d 598, 605, citing State v. Anderson, 142 Wis.2d
162, 169, 417 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1987). Analysis of the third factor involves balancing "the public interest or need that is furthered by the officer's conduct against the degree and nature of the intrusion on the citizen's constitutional interest." Pinkard, 2010 WI at ¶41. Four factors are considered when weighing these interests:

(1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the search, including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.

Id. at $\P42$.

In Kramer, which is instructive here, the officer stopped behind the defendant's legally parked vehicle that

had its hazard flashers on. <u>Id</u>. at ¶37. The court pointed to the officer's testimony that "when a vehicle is parked on the side of the road with its hazard flashers operating, typically there is a vehicle problem." <u>Id</u>. Another instructive case is <u>State v. Truax</u>, 2009 WI App 60, 318 Wis. 2d 113, 767 N.W.2d 369, wherein a motorist passed a law enforcement vehicle and abruptly pulled over to the side of the road. Because this behavior was unusual, the officer monitored the vehicle for ten to fifteen seconds and saw no one exiting the vehicle. The officer became "concerned for the well-being of the driver inside at that time," such as a possible medical condition or mechanical problem with the vehicle. Id., ¶4.

What these two cases demonstrate is that the possibility of assistance being needed, based on unusual vehicle conduct, is what forms the basis of a bona fide community caretaker function. Here, there was vehicle conduct that would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that assistance may have been needed. Schmalz was traveling nine (9) miles an hour under the posted speed limit. Schmalz was traveling within inches of the fog line and therefore within inches of leaving the roadway. Most striking is that Schmalz exhibited little, if any, reaction the approach of and collision with a deer that was so

severe that the animal was ultimately deceased. Based upon the unusual conduct of the Schmalz vehicle and the fact that Officer Johns was concerned that driver may in fact be in need of assistance, Officer Johns was acting under a bona fide community caretaker function.

Lastly, the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of Schmalz. Here, the public had a high degree of interest because the unusual driving in question left a hazard blocking the only northbound lane of travel. The public also has an interest in the removal of drivers who are impaired for whatever reason from the roadway, for the driver's safety and the public's safety. The situation here was also exigent in that it demanded prompt attention. A driver in need of assistance allowed to continue traveling unassisted on a public roadway poses a danger to himself and others.

In addition, the circumstances surrounding the seizure in this case demonstrate a minimal intrusion. The seizure was in the nature of an investigatory traffic stop that took place on a public roadway soon after bar time. The only display of authority was the activation of the officer's lights and sirens utilized in conducting the traffic stop. Officer Johns exhibited no other force. What is more, the traffic stop was the first available, most

feasible, most effective and least intrusive means by which Officer Johns could determine the condition of the driver. Based upon the forgoing, Officer Johns's stop of Schmalz was justified by the community caretaker doctrine.

CONCLUSION

Because Officer Johns possessed the requisite reasonable suspicion to stop Schmalz, the Village of Chenequa respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Circuit Court's clearly erroneous decision to grant Schmalz's motion to suppress for lack of reasonable suspicion remand the case back to the Circuit Court. Alternatively, because Officer Johns's stop of Schmalz was justified by the community caretaker doctrine, the Village of Chenequa respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Circuit Court's decision to grant Schmalz's motion to suppress and remand the case back to the Circuit Court.