### **RECEIVED**

### 03-13-2015

# CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

## WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS District II

VILLAGE OF CHENEQUA,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v. Circuit Court Case No.: 2014-CV-001389
Appeal No. 2015-AP-000094 FT

CHAD C. SCHMALZ,

Defendant-Respondent.

### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF DISMISSAL ENTERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY,
THE HONORABLE MICHAEL O. BOHREN PRESIDING

Kim & LaVoy, S.C.
2505 North 124th Street, Suite 220
Brookfield, Wisconsin 53005

By: Paul S. Crawford
State Bar Number: 1083115
Attorney for Defendant-Respondent,
Chad C. Schmalz

## WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS District II

VILLAGE OF CHENEQUA,

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the trial court erroneously exercise its discretion by granting the defendant's motion to suppress evidence on the grounds that there was no reasonable suspicion to stop the Defendant's vehicle?
- 2. Did the Village of Chenequa waive its right to raise the Community Caretaker doctrine on appeal by failing to raise the issue in the circuit court?

### POSITION ON PUBLICATION

In this decision, publication is not warranted because the factual circumstances of this case, while somewhat unique, are not significantly different from that in other published opinions or established case law.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The testimony of Village of Chenequa Police Officer

Johns sets forth the following relevant facts as they

relate to the Court's decision in this matter. These facts

supplement the factual record provided by the Appellant.

On November 18, 2012 at approximately 3:08 a.m.

Officer Richard Johns was traveling Northbound on County

Highway C in the Village of Chenequa. (R p. 5:17-18, R-Ap.

p. 5:17-18). He observed a vehicle traveling southbound in

the same area. (R p. 6:6-11, R-Ap. p. 6:6-11).

The road was dark and unlit. (R p. 40-41:23-1, R-Ap. p. 40-41:23-1). At that time of year, there is a heavy deer population on and near the roadway. (R p. 14:4-15, R-Ap. p. 14:4-15). The vehicle came out of a curve with a 25 mile per hour speed limit, where the speed limit became 35 miles per hour. (R p. 16:1-24, R-Ap. p. 16:1-24). Officer Johns observed the vehicle traveling 26 miles per hour and traveling in the proper lane of travel near, but not on or over, the fog line. Officer Johns then decided to turn around to follow the vehicle. (R 7:15-23, R-Ap. p. 7:15-23). As he followed the vehicle, he observed no erratic driving. The vehicle traveled properly in its lane of travel, with no deviations on or over the fog line, and the

vehicle did not swerve within its own lane. (R pp. 17:11-14, 20-21:15-7, R-Ap. pp. 17:11-14, 20-21:15-7).

The driver of the vehicle he was following applied the brakes, but could not avoid a collision with a deer. (R pp. 11:7-8, 22:10, R-Ap. pp. 11:7-8, 22:10). Officer Johns could not observe any damage to the vehicle or signs of distress from the driver. (R pp. 23-24:15-7, R-Ap. pp. 23-24:15-7). He testified that the reason for his decision to stop the vehicle was to check and see if the driver was okay or if there was damage to the vehicle. (R p. 24:19-23, R-Ap. p. 24:19-23).

At argument, after the evidence was closed, the Village stated that "the motion is just a stop motion" and raised no arguments about the Community Caretaker doctrine during the entirety of the hearing. (R p. 27:20-22, R-Ap. p. 27:20-22).

### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT CLEARLY ERR IN FINDING THAT OFFICER JOHNS DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE SUSPICION TO INITIATE A TRAFFIC STOP ON THE DEFENDANT.

### A. Introduction.

The trial court did not err in granting the defendant's motion to suppress evidence based on the unlawful stop of the defendant's vehicle in this case. The trial court properly evaluated the testimony and exhibits

when it issued its oral decision, noting that the circumstances as they existed in this case, under the totality of the circumstances, did not warrant a traffic stop.

### B. Standard of Review.

When the Appellate Court reviews a trial court's decision to grant a motion to suppress evidence, the Court accepts the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, and determines the application of constitutional principles to those facts independently of the circuit court, but benefitting from their analysis.

State v. Popenhagen, 2008 WI 55, ¶ 31, 309 Wis. 2d 601, 749 N.W.2d 611, citing State v. Drew, 2007 WI App 213, ¶ 11, 305 Wis. 2d 641, 740 N.W.2d 404.

# C. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Granting the Defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence.

The stop of a vehicle must be based on more than an officer's "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch," but instead must be grounded upon "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant the intrusion of the stop. State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 10, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. An investigatory stop may be made when an officer observes wholly lawful conduct, so

long as the reasonable inferences drawn from the lawful conduct are that criminal activity is afoot." State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 57, 556 N.W. 2d 681 (1996).

The following facts were observed in Officer Johns' allegation of suspicious driving: the time of day was 3:08 a.m.; the time of year meant increased deer populations on and near roadways; the roadway was dark and unlit; the driver was traveling 26 miles per hour in a 35 mile per hour zone; the driver was traveling in the proper lane of travel and did not deviate from, or swerve within, the lane of travel'; a deer wandered into the road; the driver applied his brakes; the driver collided with a deer and continued driving; Officer Johns did not observe any damage to the vehicle or signs of distress from the driver.

Officer Johns testified that the reason for his stop was "to determine if the operator was hurt or if damage was caused to the vehicle," he was not investigating an Operating While Intoxicated related offense at that time.

The Court noted that there were five specific items, when considered cumulatively, do not constitute reasonable suspicion for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence. (R 40:16-23, R-Ap. p. 40:16-23). Instead, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although Officer Johns' testimony goes into great detail about the ditch on the opposite side of the fog line, there is no indication that the driver was in danger of going into the ditch at any time.

court concluded that in evaluation of the evidence "there was not a basis for the stop," but instead "it was conjecture. It was perhaps a good guess based upon what he saw, but is it - a guess enough? And I don't think a guess is enough. There has to be more than a guess." (R 41:12-18, R-Ap. p. 41:12-18).

The court stated that had the vehicle not struck the deer that "there would not be clearly a basis to stop the vehicle." (R 41:22-24; R-Ap. p. 41:22-24). Then the Court found that the additional fact of striking a deer does not create "a further reasonable basis for the officer to conclude that a traffic violation occurred or a traffic law was violated." (R 42:2-5, R-Ap. p. 42:2-5).

As a result of the trial court's reasonable analysis of the facts on the record before it, the court did not err in granting the Defendant's motion to suppress evidence. The court's conclusion was that there was no reasonable inference that any criminal activity, or drunk driving, occurring based solely on the record before it. It was not clear error to apply the law to these facts and deem there was no reasonable suspicion to stop the Defendant's vehicle.

# II. THE VILLAGE'S FAILURE TO RAISE THE ISSUE OF THE COMMUNITY CARETAKER FUNCTION AT THE TRIAL COURT WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO ARGUE THAT ISSUE ON APPEAL.

### A. Introduction.

At the trial level, the Village of Chenequa did not raise the issue of the Community Caretaker doctrine, and as a result, the issue has been waived by the Village for purposes of the appeal.

### B. Standard of Review.

It is well established that arguments which are not raised at the trial level are deemed waived upon appeal.

State v. Caban, 210 Wis. 2d 597, 608, 563 N.W.2d 501

(1997); State v. Keith, 216 Wis. 2d 61, 80, 573 N.W.2d 888

(Ct. App. 1997). The issue must be raised and argued in the trial court in some meaningful way in order for the circuit court to make a ruling. State v. Ledger, 175 Wis. 2d 116, 135, 499 N.W.2d 198 (Ct. App. 1993).

# C. The Village waived its right to raise the issue of Community Caretaker when it did not raise that issue at the trial level.

At the motion hearing, the Village stated that "the motion is just a stop motion." (R p. 27:20-22, R-Ap. p. 27:20-22). The entirety of the transcript is devoid of any arguments regarding the Community Caretaker doctrine. The Defendant raised the issue in the motion he filed with the circuit court, anticipating the argument to be raised by

the Village's counsel as it was in the municipal court. However, at the motion hearing in circuit court, the Village did not make any reference to, or argument regarding, the application of the Community Caretaker doctrine. The Village's sole focus was on reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop. The Village abandoned the argument of the Community Caretaker doctrine that it had initially raised in the municipal court. The hearing before the circuit court is de novo; any arguments not raised before the circuit court court are not decided. As a result, the Village's failure to raise the issue in the circuit court meant that the circuit court judge did not address the issue. The issue cannot now be raised for the first time on appeal, and the argument should be deemed waived by the Village.

### CONCLUSION

Therefore, based on the arguments above, case precedent, and the record before this Court, Mr. Schmalz respectfully requests that this Court affirm the findings of the Circuit Court and find that the trial court did not erroneously exercise its discretion in granting the defendant's motion to suppress evidence. Further, Mr. Schmalz respectfully requests that this Court decline to address the issue of the Community Caretaker doctrine,

given that the argument was waived by trial counsel at the time of the motion hearing. As a result, we are asking that this Court affirm the decision of the Circuit Court to grant the Defendant's motion to suppress and the trial court's dismissal of the citations.